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REPORT OF INVESTIGATION:
MR. KEITH E, SEAMAN

L. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

We initiated the investigation to address allegations that. Mr. Keith E. Seaman, then-
Acting Defense Business Systems Acquisition Executive (DBSAE), Defense Business
Transformation Agency (BTA) engaged in misconduct. Based on complaints to this Office and
information gathered in the course of the investigation, we focused our investigation on

allegations that Mr. Seaman:

e Failed to treat subordinates with dignity and respect;

¢ Engaged in prohibited personnel practices;

PRI DX 6) (b)(7)(C) :

(D)(8)(D)(7)(C)

P (0)(6) (B)(7)(C) :

o Improperly used his Government travel charge card (Government travel card) for
non-official expenses; and '

¢ lmproperly directed a subordinate employee to use official time to perform activities
other than those required in the performance of official duties.'

We substantiated four allegations, We conclude that Mr, Seaman, in making
inappropriate remarks about subordinates, failed to treat subordinates with dignity and respect in
violation of the Joint Ethics Regulation (JER). We found that Mr. Seaman failed to demonstrate
the underlying leadership competencies ofthe “Leaditg People” executive core qualification,
which requires competence in managing and resolving conflict, as well as in creating a culture
that fosters team conumitiment, spirit, pride, and trust. Additionally, Mr. Seaman failed to exhibit
the critical leadership competencies defined in Appendix A of the Office of Personnel
Management (OPM) “Guide to Senior Executive Qualifications,” (the Guide) dated October
2006, as treating others with courtesy, sensitivity, and respect, showing consistency in words and

actions, and modeling high standards of ethics.

We also conclude that Mr. Seaman directed a subordinate not to apply for a position
within BTA, and that his actions violated merit system principles as defined in Title 5, United
States Code, Section 2301(b)(1) (5 U.S.C. 2301(b)(1)) in that his actions violated the principle of

' We received additional allegations that a preliminary inquiry determined did not warrant further investigation. We
discuss those allegations in Section I of this repart,
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“fair and open competition.” We further conclude that his actions constituted a prohibited
personnel practice as defined in 5 U.S.C. 2302(b)(4) in that his actions amounted to a “willful
obstruction” of the employee’s right to compete for employment.

We further conclude that Mr, Seaman used his Government travel card for personal
purposes in violation of DoD Financial Management Regulation, Volume 9, Chapter 3, dated

March 2005.

Finally, we conclude that Mr, Seaman used a subordinate’s official time for unauthorized
purposes in violation of Title 5, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 2635.705(b) (5 C.F.R.
2635.705(b)).

" Following our established practice, by letter dated May 21, 2012, we provided
Mr. Seaman the opportunity to comment on our initial conclusions. In his response, dated
June 25, 2012, Mr, Seaman asserted our findings were inaccurate, contested testimony of
witnesses, and described the changes he advanced during his tenure at DBSAE. Mr, Seaman
provided no new evidence for us to consider.?

After carefully considering Mr. Seaman’s response and reevaluating the evidence, we
stand by our initial conclusions,

We recommend the Deputy Inspector General for Administrative Investigations notify
the Directors of OPM and OSC of the results of this investigation,

This report sets forth our findings and conclusions based on a preponderance of the
evidence,

IL. BACKGROUND

BTA was formed on October 7, 2005, to “guide the transformation of business operations
throughout the Departiment of Defense and to deliver Enterprise-level capabilities that align to
warfighter needs.” BTA was organized into several directorates. DBSAE, which included
roughly half of the agency’s employees, was the largest directorate within BTA. As originally
organized, a military fiag grade officer (two star) would have served as the PBSAE with a DoD
civilian senior executive deputy.® In practice, once Major General Carlos D. Pair, U.S. Ariny
Reserve, DBSAE, depatted BTA in 2008, the BTA Director, Mr, David Fisher, made
Mr. Seaman, who was the Deputy DBSAE, the Acting DBSAE, the position in which
Mr. Seaman served until leaving BTA in May 2011.

2 While we have included what we believe Is a reasonable synopsis of Mr. Seaman’s response, we recognize that any
attempt to sumimarize risks over simplification and omission, Accordingly, we incorporatcd comments fiom the
response throughout this report where appropriate and attached a copy of the response to this report.

* The acronyim DBSAE (Defense Business Systems Acquisition Executive) referred both to the directorate within
the Business Transformation Agency that dealt with acquisition of DoD business systems and the individual that
headed that directorate. Context determines its usage in this report.
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On August 16, 2010, the Secretary of Defense announced the elimination of BTA as part
of the Secietary’s efficiencies initiative. With this announcement, many BTA employees began
to seek alternate employment and left the agency inadvance of its elimination,

Mr, Seaman left BTA and DoD on May 7, 2011, to accept an acquisition positionas a
senior executive with the Departinent of Veterans Affairs,

IlI.  SCOPE

We conducted a total of 36 interviews with 29 witnesses with knowledge of matters at
issue, including Mr, Seaman. We reviewed Mr. Seaman’s Government emails, Government
telephone records, official travel records, and @overnment travel card records, We also reviewed

applicable statutes, regulations, and policies.

Dwing our preliminary inquiry we concluded the following allegations did not warrant
further investigation. We consider these allegations not substantiated: -

(b)(6) (bX(7)(C)
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IV. FINDINGS AND ANALYSIS
A, Did -M;'. Scaman fail fo treat subordinates with dignity and respect?

Standards

5 U.S.C. 3131, “The Senior Executive Service”

Title S 11.S.C. 3131 established the Senioy Executive Sesvice “to ensure that the executive
management of the Govermment of the United States is responsive to the needs, policies, and
goals of the Nation and otherwise Is of the highest quality.”

DoD 5500,7-R, “JER,* dated August 30, 1993
The JER contains standards of ethical conduct and ethics guidance for DoD employees.
Chapter 2 of the JER, “Standards of Ethical Conduct,” incorporates 5 C.F.R. 2633, “Standards of

Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch,” in its entirety.

Title 5 C,F.R. 2635, Section 2635.101, “Basic obligation of goverinent setvice,” states
in paragraph (b)(14) that employees will “endeavor {o avoid any actions creating the appearance

EOR-OFRI S HER-OMr -
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that they are violating the law or the ethical standavds set forth in this part. Whether particular
circumstances create an appearance that the [aw or these standards have been violated shall be
determined from the perspective of a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts.”

JER Chapter 12, “Ethical Conduct,” states that DoD employees should consider ethical
values when making decisions as pait of official duties. In that regard, the JER sets forth '
primary ethical values of “faitness,” “caring,” and “respect” as considerations that should guide
interactions among DoD employees. It elaborates on those cliaracteristics as follows.

e Faitness involves open-mindedness and impartiality. “Decisions must not be
arbitrary, capricious, or biased. Individuals must be treated equally and with:
tolerance.”

¢+ Caring involves compassion, couttesy, an kindness to “ensure that individuals are
not treated solely as a meaus to an end.”

® Respect requires that employees “treat people with dignity.” Lack of respect leads to
a breakdown of loyalty and honesty. :

OPM Guide

_ The Guide sets forth essential leadership qualifications and underlying competencies for
members of the Senior Executive Service within the Federal Government. The introduction to
the Gulde states that {eaders must be able to apply “people skills” to motivate their employees,
build partnerships, and communicate with their customers. The Guide establishes leadership
competencies identifying the personal and professional attributes critical to success by Senior
Executive Service employees. Additionally, the Guide identifies the following five Executive
Core Qualifications for Senior Executive Service personnel: Leading Change, Leading People,
Results Driven, Business Acumen, and Building Coalitions.

Appendix A to the Guide sew forth the underiying leadership competencies that
demonstrate each Executive Core Qualification. The “Leading People” qualification requires
competence in managing and resolving conflict, as well as in creating a culture that fosters team
cominitment, spirit, pride, and trust. Additionally, Appendix A expressly defines critical
. leadership competencies to include treating others with courtesy, sensitivity, and respect,
showing consistency in words and actions, and modeling high. standards of ethics. -

Facls d
My, Seaman’s Treatment of Subordinates

M. David Fisher, former Director, Defense Business Transformation Agency, and
Mr. Seaman’s supervisor during the time in question, testified that based onhis personal
observation and understanding, he believed Mt, Seaman treated his subordinates with dignily and
respect. He noted that he had received two anonymous notes that seemed to imply diffevently
and recalled one incident in which a [EfS@ak subordinate reported being uncomfortable around

FOR-OFFI S E-OME
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Mr. Seaman, but added he never witnessed anything othe1 than appropriate behavior by
Mu, Seaman with his staff.

Dr. Douglas Webster, former Deputy Director, Defense Business Transformation
Agency, testified Mr. Seaman’sleadership style was “not consistent with what I would like to
see in a leader.” He stated-that he had not personally witnessed My, Seaman’s interactions with
subordinates, but became aware of them through employees who commented on Mr, Seaman’s

behaviot,

Members of Mr, Seaman’s staff testified that Mr. Seaman’s conduct toward them did not
always convey dignity and respect, One of Mr. Seaman’s |l testified that
Mr. Seaman is “one of those guys who has a tendency to talk about people in front of other
people.”

A member of Mr. Seaman’s testiﬁed that Mr, Seaman “has a
communication problem,” and that his communication practices can “be perceived as not
respecting another individual.” She stated that Mr. Seaman asserts that he treats others with
dignity and respect, and that “he doesn’t perceive what he’s doing as being threatening or
derogatory even though he knows he’s saying negative things.” ;

(b)) (b)7HC)

testified that Mr. Seaman’s style is to complain
about a person who is not present, stated Mr, Seaman “loves to complain about
people that just aten’t in the office.” He added that Mr. Seaman “very fiequently” talks about
those who are not inmeetings and that, if [the subordinate] is not in the meeting, he becomes the
target for something he hasn’t done.

Another of Mr. Seaman’s

(b} (B), (b) (THC)

A BTA employee Skl R far
M, Seaman testified that Mr, Seaman “would lash out at [
continually.” This employee stated that the A

(b)E) (b}THC) were Mr S {b}f.ﬁﬁ} (bYTHC)
M, Seaman treated them in that manner,

and that he “just never understood” why

A BTA employee who observed Mr. Seaman’s leadership style and his interactions with
subordinates testified that while she would not have dealt with her staff in the same way
Mr. Seaman did, she learned from his leadership style, noting that sometimes examples “of how

not to lead can be the best ones,”

This witness testified that Mr. Seaman sometimes criticized subordinates in public, She
stated she disagreed with his practice of “completely unload[ing] on somebody™ with everybody
in the room. She added that she had only seen Mr, Seaman do this in D'BSAEW’(
meetings, and noted that “if you’re on the receiving end of it, it’s embairassing,” She speculated
that Mr, Seaman believed that in criticizing these subordinates in public, “he’s just putting it on
the table and being forthright and honest.” She questioned the necessity of Mr. Seaman publicly
admonishing subordinates in front of their peers, and stated that such public admonislunents
could leave one feeling “completely exposed ... probably the feeling of, ‘I was just
kneecapped.*”
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The witness added thatthe part of Mr. Seamart’s behavior that she liked the least was
that he would talk negatively about people in thelr absence, When asked if Mr, Seaman treated
his employees with dignity and respect, the witness responded, “Most of the time, yes.” When
asked about the times that he did not, the witness testified, “It’s when they’re not present and he
makes reference to some ofthe things that they’re not meeting expectations on, And I don’t
know whether it’s intentional or unintentional, but I personally don’t like that style.” She added
she found Mr. Seaman’s actions embartassing and damaging to morale.

(b)(8) (B)(7)(C)

. in BTA testified that he started to distance himself
from Mr, Seaman because “[ just didn’t want to be part of the sharing of raw thoughts and
discussions about others.” W explained that Mr. Seaman would “talk negative things
about others and I would always tell him, ‘Sir, you really shouldn’t do that, You should be
talking to them dirvectly. Ifthis is anissue, bring it to them, discuss it with them,””
gave an example involving Mt. Seaman and oie of Mr. Seaman’s [
P | very hard” for several

(b)(6) (b)(T)
(C)

him is consistently, ‘Sir, you need to talk to [SiREsi

(b)6) {(bXTHC)

5 further testified that Mr.
with DBSAE leadetship about this js
and not present. He stated he privately told Mr. Seaman that discussions about employees while
they were not present “wasn’t the right thing te do.” He continued that another of Mr. Seaman’s
W recommended to Mr, Seaman that they should not have the disciission in the
absence of the employee in (uestion because the employee “needs to be part of [the discussion],
and it needs to be focused on the mission,” and that Mr. Seaman agieed not to hold the meeting

in the absence.

MR testified that when the
focused only on progress made by the organization as a whole, not on the &
BRArad o1 the roles and responsibilities of the

bl testified that in subsequent meetings, Mr, Seaman rebuked his senior leaders
because they did not have the “backbone” to stand up and say anything bad about the i
recalled that the senior leaders reacted to the rebuke with

isbeliel as My, Seaman had never raised the issue of the Rkl . Hestated, “We
just listened to him for about an hour and a half talk about the progress we’d made and what we
need to be doing, It was another example where he was, quite frankly, fibbing about the meeting
and what those of us in the meeting had done.” M added Mr. Seaman’s

behavior left him “very uncomfortable.”
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who routinely participated in DBSA GRS meetings
testified that she remembered several instances where she questioned Mr. Seaman’s actions.
When asked if she had ever been embatrassed by the way Mr. Seaman treated an employee, the
witness stated she had felt empathy for-both Mr, Seaman and the employee. She noted nobody
wants to have their lack of performance pointed out, and added, “it’s not something I would find
comfortable ..., It’sjust not good to see conflict or challenging conversations with anybody.”
() (6), (b} (7)

Another of Mr. Seaman’ {3f recalied Mr. Seaman’s Wmeetings
differently. She testified that the atmosphete ofthe meetings “seemed fine to me.” When asked
if Mr. Seansan might speak negatively about a petson who was not at the meeting, the employee
testified, “I thought that was a joke because they would all sit atound and laugh, And then the
next week ... when the person is there, they’d all laugh about it again.” When asked if she saw
this as something personal or vindictive on Mr. Seaman’s pait, the employee stated, “No, they
seemed to pick on each other a lot but in a joking [manner].”

One of Mr. Seaman’s A at BTA remarked on Mr. Seaman’s “somewhat
(hIE) (b)

bizarre behavior at times,” noting that he had been around Mr. Seaman enough “both as a gt
o and working in DBSAE for a while to know ... nobody likes to come to work where
they don’t know what they’re going to get that day.” ‘

M. Seaman testified that he held regular meetings with his direct reporting staf{ and that
in those meetings he discussed “inabilities” and things that “were not right.,”” Mr. Seaman denied
speaking about people behind their backs., He stated, “I’m always up front. I just don’t talk
behind people’s backs,” but acknowledged that he would discuss shortcomings of subosdinate
offices with members of other offices when the subject of the discussion was not present,

Inappropriate Conunents {0 Subordinates

Y 5
tostified that Mr, Seaman would knowmgly make mappropriate conunients about subotdinate

employees, but would preface them by stating, “Please don’t take this the wrong way” or “I
know I'm probably not supposed to say this.” He added he was “taken aback” and considered it
“an affront” fo a female employee of DBSAE when during a meeting, Mr. Seaman told her,
“You know, foran older lady you’re fairly attractive.” W described the

incident as “astounding” given Mz, Seaman’s status as a semor executive,

W of Mr. Seamau’s staff confitmed the ;m recollection. She
also testitied that Mr, Seaman prefnced his inappropriate remarks with comments such as, ““This

Is going to get out,” or ‘Somebody’s going to file a complaint,’ or, ‘I know I shouldn’t be saying
these things,’” and then making the inappropriate comments. She ascribed his behavior to his
“personality” and added she believed My, Seaman “couldn’t help himself.”

When asked if she believed Mr, Seaman’s behavior was appropriate for a senior
executive, AR replied, “No,” and added there were 50 many things thathe
did that were far worse than his comment to her that “for an older lady she was pretty attractive”;
especially in terms of comiments he would make about people behind their backs and “calling out
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what he considered to be inadequate work performance” in the presence of others. She described
such behavior is “offensive.,” She also noted that Mr. Seaman shared “inore than others might
have” and that he would “tatk about himself quite often.”

PR SR Seaman made inappropriate
comiments, She stated that he often thatthe BTA
Director liked them because “You are mote like men than women,” The witness testified that
she found the comment to be “weird, weird and awkward.” She inteipresed Mr, Seaman’s
cominent to be about “how we talk, that we’re logical, we make decisions, and, sott of, how we
actand dress.” [eiAtE stated that she felt she could “handle” Mt, Seaman
because she kept her focus on work, “no matter what awkward cominent he made,” but stated, “I
think other people get embairassed too.”

testified that M.

(b)XE) (b)(THC)

Mr. Seaman denied making inappropriate comments inthe workplace. He tesfified, “I'm
Just not that way.” He also denied being confronted by anyone in BTA about inappropriate
cominents,

My, Seanman’s Truthfulness and Recollection of Events

events accurately. One of Mr, Seaman’s testified, “I don’t think Keith is a very tuthful
person. e ... either has a skewed view of what the reality is or he just makes something up to
get himself out of trouble when he’s conftonted.” m testified that in convessations with
their supervisor Mr. Seamman would exaggerate his role in activities to enhance his importance.
Conversely, Mr. Seaman would shift responsibility away from himself when things went awry.

aobserved that on occasions when Mr. Seaman gets cornered, rather than just telling the
teuthand “sticking to his guns” he would change his story.

Multiple witnesses testified mgardinﬁ Mr. Seaman’s truthfulness and ability to recall

RAREHR recalled an occasion

when she believed Mr, Seaman deliberately provided inaccurate information to the BTA
Director, information that prompted the Director to contact a senior executive in another agency
to address the matter. The witness testified that as the director was about to place the call to the
senior executive, she advised him, “Please don’t make that call, because [Mr. Seaman] is lying to
you. He’s being less than honest.” She added that, although she could not recall what

M, Seainan had said that was inaccurate, the Director heeded her advice and did not place the
telephone call,

N testified that Mr, Seaman lied about her in a conversation
with R . She testified that Mr. Seaman asserted she had spoken with
(R P IHE) She stated, “that was a blatant lie and

one that 1 felt very strongly about, and still feel strongly about,” and assetted that she had never
spoken wit] AR

Another of Mr, Seaman’s [t testified about M. Seaman and the events
surrounding the reassignimnent of a SR in DBSAE. [ghuiaidae testified
(D)(6) (D}1)

that Mr. Seaman “changed his story [about wanting to move this employee to the &

SRS R-OMN
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m program] by stating, ‘She’s going there to support because it’s our
Number 1 program and ... she’s volunteered to go do that.’”

testified that he advised Mr. Seaman that he recalled the matter
differently and that M1, Seaman responded that he was recounting what had occutred at the time.
L RO stated he told Mr, Seaman, “Sir, that’s not what happened,” to which
Mt Seaman replied, “Yes, it is, let it go.”

o) (61, (1) (TXC) continued that about a month later Mr. Seaman stated to him and another

of Mr., Seaman’s Sisiaiig “If [the reassignment of this employee] ever comes to a
complaint, here’s whathappened that day.” m recalled that both he and
W responded, “Sir, that’s not what happened,” and offered their recollections of the

event, which Mr, Seaman rejected,

Mt Seaman testified that he was told by RESESEESENE that she overheard members of
his staff coordinating the testimony they would provide to IG investigators concerning the

allegations under investigation. We interviewed m who testified that she did not
overhear these individuals coordinating their testimony and did not tell Mr, Seaman that she did.

One of Mr. Seaman’s it testified thatMr. Seaman’s recollection of
events often varied from reality. She recalled “observations from many people” about meetings
they had attended with Mr, Seaman, which Mr. Seaman described as fantastic while others who
wete in the meeting would say, “Not so much,” or “Oh, my goodness . .. I can’t believe he said
that.” She testified that Mr. Seaman’s “telling of the story was always grander than the events,”
and that Mr. Seaman “says things to solicit sympathies ... wanting people to make him feel more

important.”

(b)(6) (b)(THC)

, tes ified that when Mr. Seaman atrived at BTA,
Mr., Seaman would say or do anything in order to get his way, “whether it’s the truth or not,
whether it’s in the interest of the organization ornot.” He added that Mr. Seaman no longer

acted that way.

Mz, Fisher testified he was unaware of Mr. Seaman’s conversations with subordinates.
He stated Mr. Seaman “is in my meetings more than I am in his meetings .., and so I don’t see
him in direct interaction with his staff very often.” :

Disctission

We conclude that Mr. Seaman violated the JER by failing to reat his subordinates with
dignity and respect when he spoke negatively about subordinates to other subordinates, oftenin
the absence of the subordinate being discussed. We found thatsuch comments created an
awkward environment in the workplace and displayed a lack of respect by Mr. Seaman for his
subordinates. We also found that Mr, Seamanmade inappropriate comments to subordinates that
exhibited a lack of awareness of the feelings of his subordinates.
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. JER, Chapter 12, “Ethical Conduct,” states that DoD employees should consider ethical
values when making decisions as part of official duties. In that regard, the JER sets forth
primary ethical values of “fairness,” “caring,” and “respect” as considerations that should guide
interactions among DoD employees. We determined that by making disparaging comments
about subordinates in the presence of other employees and in making inappropriate comments to
subordinates, Mr, Seaman failed to treat subordinates with dignity and respect in violation of the
JER. :

We determined that Mr. Seaman’s actions were inconsistent with the standards of SES
conduct described in the OPM “Guide to Senior Executive Service Qualifications,” specifically
Appendix A, “Leading People,” which requires competence in creating a culture that fosters
team cominitment, spirit, pride, and trust. Additionally, Appendix A expressly defines critical
leadership competencies to include treating others with couttesy, sensitivity, and respect,
showing consistency in words and actions, and modeling high standards of ethics.

We also found Mr. Seaman’s testimony to be divergent from that of most other witnesses.
Multiple witnessés testified that M1, Seaman’s recollection and description of events were often
at odds with that of others who participated in the same events. We found the discrepancies
between Mr. Seaman’s testitmony and that of other witnesses to be troubling and inconsistent
with his responsibilities as a member 6f the SES to foster trust.

Response to initial conclusion

Mr, Seaman’s response contained no.information that challenged the evidence on which
we based our initial conclusion, Based on our thorough review of Mr. Seaman’s response and
the relevant evidence, we stand by our initial conclusion.

B. Did Mr, Seaman violate merit system principles or engage in prohibited personniel
practices? '

Standards

5 U.S.C, 2301, “Merit system principles”

Title 5 U.S.C. 2301(b)(1) states recruitment should be from qualified individuals and
selection and advancement should be determined solely on the basis of relative ability,
knowledge, and skills, after fair and open competition which assures that all receive equal
opportunity. S

5 U.S.C. 2302, “Prohibited personnel practices”

Title 5 U.S.C. 2302(a)(xi) includes a “significant change in duties, responsibilities” as a
“personnel action,”

" Title 5 U.S.C. 2302(b) states that any employee who has authority to take, direct others to
take, recommend, or approve any personnel action, shall not, with respect to such authority ...




10-H10E114635078 12

deceive or willfully obstruct any person with respect to such person’s right to compete for
employment,

Facts

(bXE) (B)THC)

testified that Mr. Seaman’s anger grew as Dr. Webster
communicated directly with her and included herinmeetings. She added that Mr, Seaman

directed her to tell Dr. Webster that she “was not allowed to talk to him .., that all -
communicatien between Dr, Webster and her had to come directly through [Mr, Seaman],” and
that she could only accept taskings from Mr., Seaman, Mtestiﬁed that it
would have been “just wrong” for her to tell the agency’s Deputy Director “no” when he asked
her to attend a meeting, .

Iesiiﬁed (b) (6), (b) (7)C)
She added that because Dr. Webster ket

move was punishment for her interaction with Dr.. Webster on the AR and stated
she did not believe she was & good skills match to work in ( not want to

£0. m testified that the AR of the program to which Mr, Seaman wanted
to move her telephoned her and said, “I’m not quite sure why you are coming down here, I don’t

really have a position for you.”

- explained that she had to “bargain’ with Mr, Seaman to remain as
ki m DBSAE rather than move to the program office and explained that

‘Mr, Seaman made her “promise that I would never submit for the job with Dr. Webster.” The
testified that she was upset because Mr, Seaman would not talk to her and he
was freating her “very poorly.” She stated that she went to Mr, Seaman and said, “Sir, I didn’t
ask for any of this to happen ... I’m justhappy being ikl , happy working for you,
happy ... getting the job done. I don’t want to move to . 'm not qualified to
do that.” :

(b) (6), (b) (THC)

X% BHTXC) testified that Mr. Seatnan replied:

Well, if you want to stay here and keep your job, then you have to promise me
that you are not going to apply for Dr, Webstet’s position. And you’re going to
go down and tell Dr. Webster, today, that you®re not applying; that you’re not
interested. And when you come back, if I'm in a meeting, you give me a thumbs-
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up. You walk past my office and give me the thumbs-up. And when you do that
I’m going to tell [BTA Director] David Fisher that you have volunteered to stay
and you want to stay. And I’'m going to keep you here just to close the loop on
that.

M was asked if she followed through on Mt, Seaman’s instructions to
talk to Dr. Webster and then to come back and give Mr. Seaman a “thumbs-up indicating that
she had told Dr. Webster she was no longer interested in the W The

R !ic:

bet I did. I was scared for my job and I'm still in M
g e SoI went down and told Dr. Webster and he said, “Okay. |

understand.” I didn’t tell him the whole thing with [Mr. Seaman] behind it.

Mtestiﬁed that she felt as if she had no choice but to inform
Dr. Webster that she was not intetested in the job.

(bX6) (bITHC)

testified that when the iob was advettised,
both asked if she planned to apply. She testified that

(D)(6) (L)THC)

Dr, Webster and the
she told them:

I would really like to but [Mr. Seaman] had also told me thatif I applied, he
would find out who was on the cert {ceitificate of eligibles). And if my name was
on that certand I wasn't chosen, that life would be very hard in the aftermath,

Dr. Webster testified he sought to hire who would work directly for
him. He 1ecalled that the individual he sought was told by Mr. Scaman to not apply for the job.
He asserted Mr. Seaman’s actions reinforced for him his opinion that Mt. Seaman wasnot much
of a team piayer. He added that he viewed Mr. Seaman’s actions—telling an individual what '
positions they can and cannot apply for, and that if the individua! did apply that she would regret
it---as “totally inappropriate.”

SR oftered that Mr, Seaman wanted to prevent the employee fiom applying for the
Kl because Mr. Seaman probably did net want things that DBSAE was
workmg on to become kiiown outside of DBSAE “before they were prime time.”

W stated that Dr. Webster’s desite to have jllies

work at the BTA

level while still assigned to DBSAE caused fiiction between Dr. Webster and Mr, Seaman, He
(D)(E) (bHTHC)

added that Mr. Seaman told him if we saw Dr. Webster talking to we were
supposed to report that to Mr. Seaman, He stated, “We’re not to engage her, just not to have

contet with her on EERRIN
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b)(6) (b)(7)

(C)
CX e stated, “Twice he told me that I was not to have any dealings with her,” The second
o had approached to Mr, Seaman because he believed it would be aﬁﬁoiiﬂate for

e confitmed that M, Seaman explicitly told him not to deal with thef

v to be part of a teamn addressing a specific issue in DBSAR
- testified, “So I explicitly went to hiin and asked hiin if she should be part of the teain, aud he told
ine, *No, No,’ [and] thatI was not to talk to her.”

Another one of Mr, Seaman’s St testified that when Mr. Seaman divected him
“not to interface with” the A he responded, “You can’tsay that kind of thing,” and

talked Mr. Seamnan out of limiting his ¢ontact with the % He also noted
Mr. Seaman’s desire to reassign the SRS and advised Mr. Seaman that such a move

could be viewed as reprisal and that he should not LeaSSIgn her. Headded Mr, Seaman heeded
his advice for “about a week and then, it’s like, ‘I'in moving her,””

RAELATC) ! 1ld when be leatned that Mr. Seaman told the m she
could not apply for the (SRR he wentto Mr, Seaman and told him, “Sr,

you cantot do that That’s a prohibited action. You cannot tell somebody that they cannot

I ould not go to work as the [t . He recalled Mr. Seaman
statin g the (D)(6) (BXTHC) & o t g program
office if she was trying to leave.” ©) ) 0)((C) ' ! “later ... changed

his story to say the [RAtkR was going to support the program office because it's our
Number one program and she’s volunteered to go do that.”

When asked if he was aware of Mr. Seaman ever taking any improper personsel actions
ot threatening to withhold a proper personnel action for any employee, a diffcrenfm
testified, “Yeah, that’s where he struggled a little bit with the [[RAEEE | situation where
he peiceived that she was talking to the deputy director and was sharing things that he
necessarily didn’t want her to share yet.”

testified Mr, Seamman never said, “Hey, I want to screw this person,”
and, “Move them ovey there,” but he observed it was “odd timing” that Mr. Seaman wanted to
move the |REE during the “Dr, Webster thing,” A testified that, “I
tried to talk [Mr, Seatnan] out of it, just the percéption. I said, “This is not the right time .’ He

stated that M. Seaman’s desire to inove the ke “felt a little punitive,” but
acknowledged that she would have been helpful in the prograin office.

Another of Mr. Seaman’s festified that because the program office

was ina different building, it “became a way of getting you out of sight ... so there was a lot of
(b} (6), (b} (THC)

shifting people down the street under the cover of “the progtamn needs help.”
acknowledged t hatthe program “had & lot to accomplish,” and that employees could get
acquisition experience there,

bt et e o




10-HI0E114635078 15

where

Mr. Seaman wished to send the satd that he thought the program was a great
opportunity, but laughed as he noted the program office “could be viewed as being put out to ‘the

North 40,”*
testified he was aware of

Mr. Seaman’s actlons wit! pear! to t!e potentla! reassigiment o! the . He

testified that the RSN told him that Mr. Seaman told her, “Do not volunteer for that

osition. Point blank. Do not. Tdo not want you to volunteer for that position.”
m added he consideied that to be an inappropriate personnel action,” and noted that {one of
Mr, Seaman’s tried to teil Mi. Seaman, “Don’t go down thisroad. Be very

careful”’

Mr. Seaman testified that he desived to imove the to work in the

subordinate program office, which he described as a DBSAE-managed program that would
benefit from hey organizational abilities. Mr, Seaman stated that the W did not

want to move, so Dr. Webster, M and a member of Mt. Seaman’s staff,
worked behind his back to have her assigned to work for Dr. Webster on the [N

(bNE) (B)THC)

(D)6} (DXTNC)

__Mr. Seaman explained he selected the
N PING , because she “has impeccable abilities to

organize a flont office.” M. Seaman stated that the |SiRESEES informed him that she did
not want to move to the program office. He asserted that “Doug Webster, behind my back, with

a member of M, Seaman’s staff] and SAsiiae created the paperwork to fransfer the
to Doug Webster,”

M. Seaman testified that “about 2 days later,” m] came to see him
and told him, “I want to work for you, but I don’t want to go down to the program office,”
M, Seaman added that he asked the if she wanted to work for Dr, Webster aud

that she replied, “No, I just wanted to work for Dir. Webster if I have to go to the program
office.” Mr, Seaman testified:

[ said, ‘Well, you guys have created this storm. I knew nothing about what’s
going on here, So it’s going to be youthat goes down and cleans up the storm.
Youhaveto go down and talk to Doug Webster, and you have to tell Doug
Webster that it was okay, that youw want to work for me. And thenI want Doug
Webster to come down and tell me that it’s okay with him so that this is all clear.

When investigators sought to clarify his statements, Mr. Seaman confivmed that the issue

he had with the R desiring to leave DBSAE to do et for BTA was
with the process used to arrange the move, which he described as behind the scenes

maneuvering, Mr, Seaman denied telling the m that If she applied for them
* position and he found out about i, then life would be difficult for her.

M. Seaman testified that he did not instruct his etnployees to limit contact with the
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M. He explained that information about her project was
coming in, not through proper channels,” so he instructed his subordinates to “let me know
what’s going on,”
Discussion

We conclude that Mr, Seaman engaged in prohibited personnel practiceswhenhe - .
directed a subordinate employee not to apply for thew position, and by
coercing herto tell Dr. Webster that she was not interested in the position.

Title 5 U.S.C. 2301 requires fair and open competition which assures that all receive
equal opportunity. Although Mr, Seaman denied taking the actions alleged, we found his
testimony to be less credible than the testimony of the other witnesses with knowledge of the
matter. We found that by duectmg the AR not to apply for the R
BB position and by coercing her to disavow interest in the position, Mr. Seaman attempted
to restuict fair and open competition. M. Seaman’s actions violated provisions of 5 U.S.C. 2302
that prohibit an employee with authority to take, recommend, or approve any peisonnel action
fiom willfully obstructing any person with respect to such person’s right to compete for
employment.

Response to initicil conchision

M. Seaman asserted “On the issue of the SAAREE the facts are not captured.”
He placed responsibility for the events in question en Dr. Webster, whom he asserted “failed to

follow the chain of command.” Mr, Seamandenied telling the W she could not
apply for the position in question: He wrote, “I never told her she could not apply and statements

by others are untrue.” Based on our thorough review of Mr. Seaman’s response and the relevant
evidence, we stand by our initial concluslon

C. Did Mr. Seaman improperly use his Governiment travel card?

Standards
DoD Financial Ménagement Regulation, Voluine 9’, Chapter 3, March 20.054
0301 POLICY AND PURPOSE

- 030101. General. “The Travel and Ttansportation Reform Act of 1998” (TTRA) (Public
Law 105-264) stipulates that the Governmetit-sponsored, contractor-issued travel card (travel
card) shall be used by all U.S. Govetnment personnel (cxvnllan and military) to pay for costs
incident to official business travel. Provisions governing this mandatox yuse requitement wnhm
the DoD are set forth in section 0303 of this chapter.

¢ Chapter 3, Volume 9, of the DoD Financial Management Regulation has been updated since March 2605, but the
version cited above was in force for most of the period that M. Scaman misused his Goverunent fravel charge card
and the provisions of the regulation relative to this violation remain essentially wnchanged.

FOR-CHECHE- RO
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030102, Purpose. This chapter sets forth the policy and procedures with respect to
mandatory use of the travel card under the TTRA. It also establishes procedures for travel card
issuance and use. Within the Department, the travel card program is intended to facilitate and
standardize the use by DoD travelers of a safe, effective, convenient, commercially available
method to pay for expenses incident to official travel, including local travel.*

030104, Compliance. This regulation establishes command, supervisoty, and personal
responsibility for use of the Government travel card and operation of the DoD travel card
program, Civilian persontiel who misuse or abuse the Government travel card may be subject to
appropriate administrative or disciplinary action up to, and including, removal firom federal
service, Additionally, willful misuse of the Government travel card by either military personnel

-or civilian employees inay constitute a critne punishable under federal or state law.

030211, Travel Cardholders. Cardholders for individually billed accounts are personnel
to whom travel cards have been issued for use while performing official Government travel,
These personnel shall adhere to the pxocedules set forth in tlus Regulation and applicable DoD
Component guidance.

Facts

Mr. Seaman’s Government travel card statements for the period January 2009 to May
2010 revealed charges to “PMI,” a local parking management company. My, Seaman testified
that he used his Government travel card to track his daily “Government” parking expenses when
he did notride his motorcycle to work. :

In an attempt to clarify what Mr. Seaman meant by “Government” parking expenses,
investigators asked Mr. Seaman if his “Government” parking expenses were incurred as part of
his normal commute to work. M., Seaman explained that he used his Government travel card to
track parking charges on occasions when he could not park for fiee.

Mr. Seaman described these expenses as “questionable,” and noted he did not request
reimbursement for them., Mr, Seaman stated that he discontinued his practice of using his
Government travel card to pay for local parking after Human Resources personnel advised him
that he should not use the card for that purpose.

Discussion

We conclude that Mr. Seaman misused his Govermment travel card. Mr, Seaman’s
Governiment travel card records disclosed that he improperly used his Government travel card to
pay for local parking during his daily commute to his primary place of'duty. Therecords
disclosed that the majority of Mr. Seaman’s PMI charges were for parking at 1750 Crystal Drive,”

S Local travel is of ficlal travel within the local area. Commuting ﬁ o one’s residence to one’s pumaly place of
duty is not considered local travel, .
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Arlington, Virginia -- a parking garage a block from Mz, Seaman’s office. Wenote that
M, Seaman testified that he considered these charges “questionable” and did not submit them
for reimbursement,

We find credible M1, Seaman’s testimony that he used the Government charge card to
“track” his parking expense and that he discontinued this practice once he was made aware that it
was improper, but we also note that, as part of the issuing process, Mr. Seamait should have
received training in the proper use of the card and that as a long-time user of the Government
travel card he was responsible for knowing the regulations pertaining to its use,

Res ponse to initiai conclusion

Mr. Seaman’s response contained no information with regard to this allegation. We stand
by our initial conclusion,

D. Did Mz, Seaman misuse a_subordinate’s official time?

Standards

5 C.F.R 2635, “Standads of ethical conduct for employecs of the Executive
Br'anch”

. Title 5 C.F.R. 2635.705(b), “Use of a subordinate’s time,” states that an employee shall
not encourage, direct, coerce, or request a subordinate to use official time to porform activities
other than those required in the performance of official duties or authorized it accordance with

law or regulation.

acts

(b)X6) (L)THC)
Mr. Seaman. Further, an email dated March 30, 2010, disclosed that M. Seaman’s |Satis
ERICHN reserved a racquetball cowrt for Mr. Seaman and one of his AR

(C)

An email dated April 5, 2010, reflected that Mr. Seaman asked a m
(b)X6) (BX7)C) to inquire of the Rkt about Mr. Seaman’s gym membership.

r, Seaman testitied that this gym offered special reduced membership fees for BTA employees.

He stated:

I don’t know the whole details behind it. I just know that my membetship cost
(D)(6) (b)(THC)

me a certain amount; I gave them my credit card, and |

¢ The Defense Business Transformation Agency (DBTA) provided subsidized gyim memberships for civilian and
military personnel assigned to the Agency. Bmployees pald25% of the membership fee divectly to the gym. DBTA

paid the remaining 75%.
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would get that. She’d go downto human resources, get my stuff, and I’d fill out

[b)(6) (b)Y 7)C)

the form, She’d turnit in to human resources, and -- just what an
BN would do.

Discussion

(b)(6) (b)THC)

We conclude that Mr. Seaman requested and allowed his touse
official time to schedule personal racguetball games and obtain a gym membership for
Mz, Seaman in violation of S C.F.R, 2635,705(b), “Use of a subordinate’s time.”

Title 5§ C.F.R. 2635.705(b), states that an employee shall not encourage, direct, coerce, or
request a subordinate to use official time to perform activities other than those required in the
performance of official duties or authorized in accordance with Iaw or regulation,

We determined that Mr. Seaman ditected his to schedule his regular
racquetball games and assist in processing his application for a gym membership. Both

Mt. Seaman’s racquetball games and his application for a pym membership were personal
activities Without a connection to his or hisw official duties. His use of his
to assist in these activities violated the provisions of 5 C.F.R. 2635.705(b).

Response to initial conclusion

Mr. Seaman’s response contained no information with regard to this allegation. We stand
by our initial canclusion.

V.  CONCLUSIONS
A. Mr. Seaman failed to treat subordinates with dignity and respect.
B. M. Seaman engaged in prohibited personnel practices.
C. Mr. Seaman misused his Government travel card.
D. Mr. Seaman misused a subordinate’s official time,

VL RECOMMENDATIONS

We recommend the Deputy Inspector Genexal for Administrative [nvestigations notify
the Divectors of OPM and OSC ofthe esults of this investigation.
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